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Making a 
difference for 
patients at UCLH
Our mission is to improve the lives of patients at 
UCLH. We do this by supporting projects which 
transform health care. With your help, we can 
make an even bigger difference.

FRONT COVER

Cover photo shows Bethan 
Simpson preparing to give 
birth to Elouise, the fourth 
baby to have surgery in the UK 
to repair her spine while still in 
her mother’s womb. 

At her 20-week scan, Bethan 
Simpson was told her baby 
had Spina Bifida. She opted for 
pioneering foetal surgery and 
underwent a four-hour operation to 
sew up a tiny gap in her baby’s lower 
spine. Elouise was born weeks later 
and her prognosis is very positive. 
As Bethan said, “We hope she will 
learn to walk and talk like a normal 
baby. She’s living proof of what this 
surgery can do. It might not work for 
everyone but we’ve been incredibly 
lucky.”

Up until now, this surgery has 
been available in a few countries 
including Belgium and the United 
States. In particular, a clinical team 
from Leuven headed by Jan Deprest 
trained the UK team. UCLH Charity, 
together with Great Ormond Street 
Hospital (GOSH) Charity, helped 
bring this pioneering surgery to the 
UK.

The clinical and research teams 
involved featured in a BBC 
documentary ‘Spina Bifida and me’ 
and won the Clinical Leadership 
Award in the BMJ awards.
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Pioneering spinal 
surgery in the 
womb before birth 

The Spina Bifida team 
at the BMJ awards

Elouise Simpson, born in 
April 2019
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Our objectives

OUR YEAR IN NUMBERS

Message from our Chairman

Our charity supports UCLH NHS Foundation 
Trust, and our work focuses on four 
objectives to improve life for patients.

SUPPORTING  
PATIENT CARE

We support the Trust’s 
strategy to improve the patient 

experience at UCLH. All our 
activities are aimed at making 

patients’ lives better during 
their stay in the hospital.
Read about our impact  

on pages 8–9

ENVIRONMENT 
AND EQUIPMENT

We fund state-of-the-art 
equipment to enable UCLH to 

provide the best patient care. We 
also provide funding to  

make the hospital environment 
more pleasant for patients and 

visitors during their stay.
Read about our impact  

on pages 12–13

TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPING STAFF

We provide funding for training  
and education to ensure that staff  
at UCLH are kept up-to-date with 

health care developments and are 
able to apply the latest clinical 

techniques to help patients. 
Read about our impact  

on pages 10–11

ADVANCING 
RESEARCH

We fund a wide range of  
clinical research projects at 

UCLH which translates cutting-
edge research and innovation 

into new and improved 
treatments for patients.
Read about our impact 

on pages 14–15

£19.5M
Total income for 2018–19

£18.6M
Total spend for 2018–19 Total spent on charitable 

activities for 2018–19

£11.2M

Welcome to the UCLH Charity’s Annual Report, an overview 
of how we have made a difference to patient care at UCLH, 
together with our detailed accounts for 2018/19.
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James Thorne
Chairman

In July 2018, the NHS turned 70 and 
we reflected with enormous pride 
on all it has achieved. The birthday 
celebrations also prompted an 
opportunity to look forward and 
think about what the NHS would 
look like in the next 70 years. With 
NHS charities giving £1m every 
day to support the work of the 
health service, philanthropy’s long 
involvement in supporting patient 
care is set to continue. Our overall 
contribution to UCLH in the period 
covered by this report was £11.2m. 

As you will see from this report, 
we are supporting UCLH in many 
different ways. We have invested 
in the new electronic health record 
system (EHRS) which will help 
deliver safer, more efficient care as 
well as optimising UCLH’s research 
potential. We have also funded 
several new and innovative projects, 
such as pioneering spinal surgery 
in the womb which features on our 
front cover, and the NHS’ first health 
play specialist for people with 
learning disabilities and autism. 

We recognise that the NHS needs 
to work as part of the wider 
community to meet the significant 
health challenges we face today. 
With the cooperation of Camden 
Council, we are funding a project 
involving Redthread, a specialist 
youth work charity. Dedicated 
workers will be embedded into 
the UCLH emergency department 
and will provide young people 
experiencing youth violence and 
knife crime with multi-agency 
support at an early stage. We hope 
UCLH can enable these young 
people to go on to lead healthy,  
safe lives. 

We are also helping UCLH to sustain 
its financial future by assisting the 
Trust’s drive to maximise funds 
through philanthropic giving. 
In March we were delighted to 
recognise the Dangoor family’s 
significant contribution to a new 
clinical immunotherapy centre 
through their Exilarch’s Foundation. 

It is an enormous privilege to 
be chair of UCLH Charity and to 
support Trust colleagues. It has 
been a very challenging year 
for them but their commitment, 
dedication and meticulous planning 
has ensured that the switching 
on of the EHRS – one of the most 
ambitious, large scale IT projects 
ever undertaken at UCLH – was  
a success.

I would like to thank my fellow 
trustees and the charity’s team 
for their contributions and 
commitment. We continue to work 
with UCLH as it innovates and 
strives for excellence in all that it 
does. Together we have done much, 
and will aim to do so much more.
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About us OUR FUTURE 
AMBITIONS

Everything we do aims to support 
patients being treated at UCLH. 
We provide grants for projects 
‘over and above’ what the NHS 
can realistically provide. This 
includes improvement to clinical 
services, specialist equipment, 
enhancements to the environment 
and funding for pioneering 
research projects. We also support 
UCLH staff through training and 
development, so that they can 
provide the best possible care. 

OUR HISTORY 
UCLH Charity can trace its roots 
back to 1745. The present day 
Charity was established as a result 
of several restructures and mergers. 

In April 2000 three separate 
charities – UCH Special Trustees, 
UCLH NHS Charity and Middlesex 
Hospital Special Trustees – merged 
to become UCLH Charity. In April 
2017, we became an independent 
charity regulated by the Charity 
Commission. 

 OUR STRATEGY
  Our mission to support patient 

care at UCLH is delivered by four 
strategic aims: 

1  Ensure that the Charity is run 
efficiently by knowledgeable 
trustees and effective staff, 
adhering to good governance, 
guided by a clear understanding 
of UCLH NHS Foundation Trust’s 
strategic direction

2  Optimise capital through the 
investment strategy

3  Optimise income by investing in 
commercial opportunities and 
property 

4  Award grants that go ‘over and 
above’ NHS provision in line with 
strategic priorities at UCLH

 ABOUT UCLH

 Five hospitals:

•  University College Hospital 
incorporating Elizabeth Garrett 
Anderson Wing and the Middlesex 
Hospital Tower and:

 - UCH at Westmoreland Street

 - UCH Macmillan Cancer Centre

 -  Institute of Sport, Exercise and 
Health

 - Hospital for Tropical Diseases

•  National Hospital for Neurology 
and Neurosurgery at Queen Square 
and Cleveland Street

• The Eastman Dental Hospital

•  The Royal National Throat, Nose 
and Ear Hospital

•  The Royal London Hospital for 
Integrated Medicine

Keeping young people safe
Tackling and preventing youth 
violence in our local and wider 
community will remain a key 
area of focus. Our collaborative 
approach with local councils to 
bring a specialist youth charity into 
the emergency department marks 
the beginning of a commitment to 
improve the lives of young Londoners 
at risk from youth violence. 

Capital and income 
generation
We will continue to use our 
knowledge, expertise and 
experience to optimise income 
opportunities via our subsidiaries’ 
management of imaging and 
property activities. Revenue 
generated is ploughed back into 
UCLH to benefit patient care. 

Supporting machine learning
We will continue to support the 
integration of machine learning 
using data and informatics to 
improve and predict patient 
outcomes. Learning from the pilot 
in ICU to improve patient pathways, 
we will support similar approaches 
in other specialties at UCLH. 

UCLH Charity is managing the 
redevelopment of the former 
Middlesex Annexe, now known as 
the Bedford Passage development

UCLH 2018/19 
YEAR IN NUMBERS

9,000 

staff from 120 nations

1 million 

patients treated yearly

142,073 
visits to the 
emergency 
department

6,344 
babies born

1,161 
hospital beds

1,654 
clinical trials and 
studies

15,564
patients recruited  

to trials in the year

UCLH Charity is the official charity of University College 
London Hospitals (UCLH) NHS Foundation Trust, one of the 
largest and most complex hospital trusts in the country.
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Our impact

Tim Jaggard, UCLH Finance Director, centre, presents thank gifts 
to ward based staff following implementation of Epic

Each year, we channel over £10m into 
UCLH. Here are just some of the ways we 
have made a difference to patient care.

IMPROVING THE SURGERY 
WAITING AREA
Waiting for surgery can be a 
daunting experience. We have 
funded improvements to the area 
patients go to before surgery to 
help patients more at ease. 

FASTER CARE FOR STROKE 
PATIENTS
If performed within six hours of a 
stroke, a medical thrombectomy 
can make a significant difference – 
the sooner patients are treated, the 
better their chances of recovery. 
Our funding allows the service 
offering this treatment to extend its 
hours, enabling more patients to 
benefit from earlier intervention. 

GIVING PATIENTS A WARM 
WELCOME
We fund welcome packs which 
are given to patients admitted 
to hospital. The packs contain 
practical items (ear plugs, sleep 
masks, non-slip socks) and an ‘all 
you need to know’ booklet about 
life on the ward, enabling patients 
to feel informed and therefore less 
stressed about their hospital stay. 

SUPPORTING 
VOLUNTEERING
The UCLH volunteering service, 
supported by UCLH Charity, 
continues to grow. In 2018/19, 
volunteer numbers rose to 504, an 
increase of 20%. They gave 36,201 
hours of their time, helping patients 
203,000 times in a number of 
different roles.

CELEBRATING STAFF 
EXCELLENCE AWARDS
Each year UCLH hosts a staff 
excellence awards ceremony 
to recognise and honour the 
contribution of its workforce. Staff 
are nominated by colleagues, and 
for some awards, patients, in a 
number of categories. All nominees 
are invited to a special event where 
the winners are announced and 
their contribution is celebrated. 
We support the awards ceremony 
as part of our commitment to 
developing staff at UCLH. 

SAYING THANK YOU TO 
STAFF 
The implementation of the new 
electronic health record system 
(EHRS) was a significant challenge, 
with staff working tirelessly to 
ensure the smooth transition to 
a single digital record for each 
patient. We funded a ‘thank you’, 
which saw hampers hand-delivered 
to wards and departments around 
the Trust by members of the UCLH 
executive team. 

The REGAIN team, winners of the Contribution to World-Class Research Award at the 2019 Staff Excellence Awards. 
REGAIN is the first regenerative hearing drug trial worldwide.

Volunteering Manager Clive Pankhurst with volunteer Diana 

New artwork in the surgery 
waiting area

UCLH welcome pack
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procedure
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BEDFORD PASSAGE
In April 2019 we invited 
stakeholders including local 
councillors and youth charities to 
an event to mark the progress of 
the Bedford Passage development. 
Income generated from the 
development will be ploughed 
back into UCLH

UCLH Chairman James Thorne 
addresses guests at the Bedford 
Passage construction review
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Health play specialist for people with learning disabilities Deborah Edgington with Justin on the general adult inpatient ward
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HEALTH PLAY SPECIALIST 
FOR PEOPLE WITH 
LEARNING DISABILITIES

We are proud to fund the 
NHS’s first health play 
specialist (HPS) for people 
with learning disabilities. 

HPSs are often part of a package 
of care for children and young 
people with a learning disability, 
but once they reach 25 years, 
patients are cared for by adult 
services. However, a learning 
disability can have a lasting effect 
on development and many patients 
continue to have difficulties 
communicating, understanding 
information and learning new skills 
into adulthood. The expertise an 
HPS can offer continue to be very 
much needed, but there is currently 
no provision for this type of support 
for people over 25. 

In a trailblazing initiative, we have 
agreed to fund a HPS to work across 
all sites and services to support all 
patients of all ages with learning 
disabilities and autism. 

Deborah Edgington started work  
in this new role in August 2018.  
She says; 

“By communicating with patients 
on a level appropriate to their 
individual needs and offering 
emotional and psychological 
support through any potentially 
frightening or painful procedures, 
the patient, their carers and 
staff will have a more positive 
experience throughout their 
hospital journey”.

People with learning disabilities and 
autism are twice as likely to require 
hospital admission than the general 
population. This grant will help 
UCLH lead the way in providing the 
personalised care they deserve. 

UCLH SQUAD – YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S VOLUNTEERING 
PROJECT

With the Pears Foundation’s 
#iwill Fund*, we’re funding 
an exciting three-year project 
to get young people involved 
in volunteering at UCLH. 
The project aims to add 80 
under 18s to our 420-strong 
community of volunteers.

There are several voluntary 
roles that 16-18 year olds can do, 
including welcoming and guiding 
patients, befriending patients on 
the elderly wards and ‘boredom 
busting’, which involves distributing 
puzzle books or encouraging 
patients in craft activities.
Hannah Brazil, who is the new 
volunteer co-ordinator leading the 
project, said; 

“Young people don’t often get 
credit for the positive things 
they offer society; this project is 
a fantastic opportunity to bring 
dedicated and passionate young 
volunteers into the Trust. I am 
looking forward to harnessing 
their energy and ideas to support 
our teams and improve our 
patient experience. We will be 
partnering with local schools  
and colleges to engage with 
young people and build a 
connection between them and  

PRIORITIES FOR 2019-20 

 We will continue to support 
UCLH with ‘boredom busting’ 
activities to ease stress and 
alleviate boredom for patients 
during their hospital stay. 

We will continue to support 
young people’s involvement in 
volunteering at UCLH, which 
enhances patient care and 
boosts future employability.

Our grants

Supporting  
patient care

£2.0M
Spent on projects 

aimed at improving 
patient care 

Supporting care is our primary objective and fundamental to 
all that we do. By funding new innovations, enhancing existing 
services or simply providing some of the ‘added extras’, our 
grants aim to make the experience of being a patient at UCLH 
that bit better. 

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/supporting-patient-care

  the community, as well as 
helping to develop skills for their 
future aspirations.”

  By offering a wide range of roles 
and flexibility around commitment, 
such as Super Saturdays and a 
summer scheme, the programme 
is designed to appeal to as many 
young people as possible. 

 
  As well as having immediate 

benefits to patient care, the project 
is an investment in the future.  
By working in a hospital setting, 
young people will be able to see the 
many different roles the NHS has to 
offer, and through the programme’s 
links with UCLH workforce and 
development teams, volunteering 
could be a first step into a 
healthcare based career. 

 
*  The National Lottery Community Fund 

and the Department of Culture, Media & 
Sport are each investing £20 million seed 
funding over four years to create the #iwill 
Fund. Pears Foundation is acting as a match 
funder and awarding grants on behalf of 
the #iwill Fund.

 OTHER GRANTS
•  Provision of mobile phone charging 

units to enable patients to keep in 
touch with family and friends

•  Funding for welcome packs for 
patients admitted to UCLH as 
inpatients 

Young volunteers
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Bernadette Ryan and Cynthia Oji, the new staff networks team 

SUPPORTING STAFF 
NETWORKS

We are supporting the 
development of staff networks 
at UCLH, giving a collective 
voice to staff groups who 
have traditionally been under 
represented at more senior 
levels at UCLH. 

UCLH currently has three staff 
networks – LGBT, Black Asian 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) and Women 
in Leadership (WIL). 

There are two more in development 
- one for people impacted by 
disabilities and one for those with 
mental health issues. 

Networks are groups of like-minded 
people who meet regularly to 
discuss ideas, build professional 
relationships and hold events. 
Separate from the Trust’s corporate 
structure, the networks bring a 
collective voice to key decision 
making. 

 Cynthia Oji started her new role 
as staff networks development 
manager in June 2019. She said: 

 “Our staff care about patients, 
but we need to look after our 
staff. It’s important that staff have 
somewhere to go for support 
and help. We want to create a 
community feel among our staff 
which links to the Trust values of 
kindness and teamwork.”

The programme has got off to 
a flying start. Network member 
numbers are rising and the team 
have launched the disability 
network. They have also organised 
mental health and wellbeing 
focus groups, career development 
workshops and BAME drop in 
events. A reverse mentoring 
scheme is also in the pipeline.

  STAFF EXPERIENCE AND 
ENGAGEMENT

  To support UCLH’s strategic 
objective to ‘develop all our 
diverse staff to deliver their 
potential and foster talent’ 
we have funded a project 
to improve staff experience 
based on feedback about  
what would make working  
at UCLH better. 

  This wide ranging project focuses 
on the care, wellbeing, safety and 
security of staff and includes:

•  Encouraging and supporting staff to 
eat better and move more through a 
fruit stall in the main reception area, 
healthy options in 24/7 vending 
machines, calorie counted food 
in UCLH outlets, extension of a 
fitness and nutrition programme, 
installation of outdoor exercise 
equipment and access to a staff 
physiotherapy service

•  Support for mental wellbeing 
through access to occupational 
therapy, a staff psychologist and 
free subscription to a mindfulness 
app

•  A campaign to describe the effect 
of anti-social behaviour on staff 
alongside guidance and support 
for identifying, managing and 
escalating incidents

•  Extension of the successful ‘Where 
do you draw the line’ campaign to 
reduce bullying and harassment 
among colleagues in areas where 
needed 

PRIORITIES FOR 2019-20 

 We will support UCLH to 
introduce a new registered 
nursing apprenticeship, 
creating a new career pathway 
into nursing for both new 
staff and existing healthcare 
assistants. UCLH is leading the 
way on this innovative initiative. 

We will continue to support  
the Trust’s focus on initiatives 
to develop, nurture and  
engage staff. 

Training and 
developing staff
Supported staff provide better care. Evidence suggests that 
investment in staff experience and engagement can improve 
patient satisfaction, lower mortality rates and reduce infection 
rates. Each year, we contribute to staff development, training 
and recognition, so that the people providing world class care 
feel looked after too. 

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/training-and-developing-staff

£5.8M
Spent on projects to 
support training and  

developing staff 

Our grants

 OTHER GRANTS
•  Part funding of retention and 

recruitment lead nurse for one year 
to lead and implement a strategy 
to attract and retain both junior 
and more experienced nurses at 
UCLH, with a particular focus on the 
National Hospital for Neurology and 
Neurosurgery

•  Modernising the recruitment 
process at UCLH by deploying an 
online strategy which includes 
social media advertising, a new 
microsite and virtual reality to 
streamline the application process 
and reduce the time and resources 
taken for assessment and pre –
employment checks

•  Further funding for the sister/
charge nurse development 
programme to enhance the skill set 
and leadership qualities needed for 
this crucial operational role

Staff feedback workshop



Laura Bradshaw, Arts and Heritage Apprentice
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ARTS AND HERITAGE 
APPRENTICE

UCLH has a long established, 
innovative arts and heritage 
programme supported by 
UCLH Charity. Evidence has 
shown that art has a positive 
impact on patient health 
and wellbeing, including 
reduced stress, anxiety and 
depression, reduced blood 
pressure and pain intensity 
and less need for medication.

To support and extend the current 
programme of work, we are funding 
the NHS’s first arts and heritage 
apprentice who will work on 
music events in waiting areas, art 
workshops for patients and ongoing 
exhibitions. A major focus will be 
supporting the integration of art 
into the fabric of new buildings, the 
cancer and surgery building due to 
open in 2020, and the Royal National 
ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals, 
opening later this year. Projects for 
the latter includes a photographic 
light box, films oral histories, music 
and a sculpture celebrating the 
heritage and history of the two 
hospitals that are moving to the  
new facility. 

Laura Bradshaw arrived at UCLH 
as the first Arts and Heritage 
Apprentice in April. 

“Since joining I’ve curated the 
archive exhibition showing images 
of staff at UCLH over the last 
100 years and will manage the 
next staff art exhibition, which 
showcases the incredible artistic 
talents of UCLH. Both these 
exhibitions are on ‘hospital 
street’ giving patients waiting 
for prescriptions a welcome 
distraction. A culture club for staff 
and volunteers is also planned”. 

CUTTING EDGE EQUIPMENT 
The Eastman Dental Education 
Centre is consistently 
ranked as one of the top 
10 international dental 
schools and is Europe’s 
largest postgraduate dental 
education centre training 
dental students, therapists, 
hygienists and dental nurses. 

The Centre is moving to a new 
home in 2019, close to the new 
Royal National ENT and Eastman 
Dental Hospitals building, marking 
a new era in the treatment, training, 
education and research into ear, nose 
and throat and dental conditions.

We’re funding four new state-of-the 
art virtual reality dental trainers 
to help train the dental staff of 
tomorrow.

Since the 1800s, students have 
practised their hands-on skills on 
a ‘phantom head’ before treating 
patients. Traditionally, phantom 
heads are model heads with 
plastic teeth jaws attached but 
technological advances have seen 
the development of a ‘virtual reality’ 
phantom head that allows students 
to perform treatment of typical 
dental conditions (fillings,  

PRIORITIES FOR 2019-20 

 We will help provide cutting 
edge facilities for the new Royal 
National ENT and Eastman 
Dental Hospitals to enhance the 
environment and treatment in the 
new hospital. 

We will continue to support 
enhancements to the new cancer 
and surgery centre to ensure 
it provides the best possible 
patient and staff experience 
when it opens in 2020. 

  root canals, crowns) in a 3D virtual 
environment. We are purchasing 
four new machines.

  The phantom heads are about 
as close to real life as you can 
get - oral scans of patients can be 
imported so students can work on 
real life cases, and the drill hand 
piece provides an exact feeling of 
the objects and materials being 
worked on. The heads come with 
an extensive library of tooth and 
instrument models allowing for 
extensive training and potential 
for research and development 
opportunities. The simulators can  
also be used in recruitment to  
courses and for ongoing assessment.

  The new equipment will help the 
Centre maintain its position as one 
of Europe’s leading providers of 
dental education.

 OTHER GRANTS
•  Update to the MRI scanner enabling 

improved outcomes for patients 
undergoing epilepsy surgery 

•  Organisational development  
and change lead to support and 
engage staff in readiness for a 
smooth transition to the new  
Royal National ENT and Eastman 
Dental Hospitals and the new  
cancer and surgery buildingEnvironment 

and equipment
We award grants to enable UCLH to provide over and above 
what the NHS can afford. This ranges from innovative 
equipment, so patients can benefit from the latest treatments 
to enhancements to the environment that make a hospital stay 
at UCLH less stressful. 

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/environment-and-equipment

£1.3M
Spent on projects to 

improve environments 
and pay for specialist 

equipment

Our grants

The Simondont dental trainer © Simondont



Dr Wai Keong Wong, Chief Research Information Officer for UCLH and consultant haematologist
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USING Epic TO ADVANCE 
RESEARCH 

In March 2019, after years of 
preparation, UCLH switched on 
Epic, its new electronic health 
record system. The benefits 
of a single digital patient 
record are numerous and 
well documented in terms of 
safety, efficiency, continuity of 
care and communication. Our 
funding towards this significant 
project will help ensure Epic 
delivers its potential benefits 
to advance research and 
development at UCLH. 

The research functionality within 
Epic will allow clinicians and 
researchers to improve almost 
every step in the research life cycle. 
This includes identifying patients 
suitable for trials using reporting 
tools, collecting patient consent to 
be contacted about potential trials, 
visibility for every member of staff 
to know if a patient is on a trial – and 
who to contact if there is a query, 
and safety features to alert study 
co-ordinators if a patient is admitted 
to hospital or has a significantly 
abnormal blood test while they are 
on a trial. The patient portal will also 
be a channel for communication, 
engagement and data collection.

Dr Wai Keong Wong, Chief Research 
Information Officer for UCLH and 
consultant haematologist, said

“In just five months post Epic go-
live research staff have transitioned 
well from a paper-based to a digital 
process. I’m proud of what they 
have achieved through team work 
and dedication. This is a solid 
foundation to build upon and in the 
next year we aim to utilise more 
advanced functionality to derive 
even greater benefits for our 
research staff and patients alike.”

CLINICAL RESEARCH 
FELLOW SCHEME 

A clinical research fellow 
scheme funded by UCLH 
Charity continues to go from 
strength to strength.

The scheme was founded in 2018 
by UCLH Chief Executive, Professor 
Marcel Levi, and aims to identify, 
nurture and develop academic 
potential inside UCLH, embed a 
culture of research, training and 
development, and retain talented 
staff. In the past three years, 
more than 60 fellows have been 
appointed.

The scheme has been a success. 
Places on the ‘Levi Fellowship’ 
scheme are much coveted and 
attract high quality applicants from 
across many disciplines. Many of 
the projects the fellows have been 
involved in are having a positive 
impact on patient care, for example 
identifying pregnant women at risk 
of placental insufficiency. Other 
projects are contributing to exciting 
new research fields or providing a 
basis for further study. The scheme 
has also retained staff, providing 
continuity for services and patients. 

Feedback from the fellows has been 
overwhelmingly positive with many  

PRIORITIES FOR 2019-20 

 Continue to invest in the 
clinical research fellow scheme 
spearheaded by UCLH Chief 
Executive Professor Marcel Levi 
to help UCLH realise its ambition 
to be a research hospital. There 
will be a future focus on cancer 
related projects.

  relishing the opportunity to take 
time to pursue their research 
interests in a structured scheme at a 
world class institution. 

  David Lanham is an acute medicine 
fellow. He is trialling a new service 
in which patients have access to 
the hospital team looking after 
them, via telephone, up to seven 
days after being discharged. This 
safety net is usually provided by 
GPs, but with recent investigations 
and clinical notes readily available, 
hospital teams are equipped to 
respond to patient concerns and  
 identify patients who may be 
getting worse and need to be seen 
again urgently, earlier. 

 David said;

  “Being a Levi Fellow has given 
me the opportunity to combine 
working as a doctor and as a 
researcher. I believe this balance 
creates the ideal environment 
to identify the strengths and 
areas for improvement within 
the service where we work. We 
can then develop strategies to 
improve both staff and patient 
satisfaction, to try and make the 
NHS the best it can be”. 

 OTHER GRANTS 

•  Project to introduce n-of-1 
methodology as standard practice 
for formulary committees, enabling 
personalised treatment decisions 

Advancing 
research
We support UCLH’s ambitions to be a world class research 
hospital. Our grants fund all aspects of research in a wide range 
of areas so that pioneering breakthroughs translate from bench 
to bedside as quickly as possible. 

Read more about our work in this area:  
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/advancing-research

£2.1M
Spent on projects 

to advance 
research

Our grants

David Lanham 



Fundraising highlights

It has been a busy year for fundraising. 
Many funds have continued to raise money 
for specific areas and causes. The newly 
established fundraising team has been 
co-ordinating activities across UCLH and 
raising funds to support new building 
projects and areas of need.

JUNE 2018

Amsterdam to London cycle
A team of 18 cyclists made up of 
staff and patients cycled from 
Amsterdam to London raising 
£8,726 to support the new cancer 
and surgery building. The group 
included Amsterdam native and 
UCLH Chief Executive Professor 
Marcel Levi.

JULY 2018

NHS70 bake off
The fundraising team celebrated 
the NHS’ 70th birthday in style. 
Seven tea parties took place at 
different locations across UCLH, 
staff got creative in an NHS70 
themed bake off and a celebratory 
event was held in the House of 
Lords’ Attlee Room. 

OCTOBER 2018

London Bridgathon
320 patients, supporters and 
staff joined patrons Julian Rhind-
Tutt, Professor Emma Morris and 
ambassador Jules Mountain, for 
the 2018 London Bridgathon, the 
Haematology Cancer Care fund’s 
annual event. Together they raised 
an incredible £30,000.

Prof Marcel Levi, fourth from left, at the start of the 
AMS-LDN cycle challenge

UCLH Chair David Prior, CEO, Prof Marcel Levi, Chief Nurse, 
Flo Panel-Coates and Medical Director Prof Geoff Belligan 
judge the great UCLH bake off

DECEMBER 2018

A tree of thanks
The season of good cheer was 
marked by carol concerts, charity 
Christmas cards, reflective hearts 
and a festive open event.

JANUARY 2019

HCC’s 25th birthday
2019 marks the Haematology 
Cancer Care (HCC) fund’s 25th 
birthday. For a quarter of a 
century the fund has been 
supporting the haematology 
community of patients, their 
families and carers and staff. 
HCC has raised an impressive 
£6m to date. 

MARCH 2019

£1.6m grant from the Dangoor 
family
The Dangoor family were warmly 
welcomed to UCLH to finalise a  
£1.6m grant from their Exilarch’s 
Foundation to establish Europe’s  
first clinical immunotherapy unit in 
the name of their late father,  
Sir Naim Dangoor. This will be 
located in the new cancer and 
surgery building, due to open in 2020. 

Michael Dangoor (left, centre) shakes hands with UCLH CEO 
Prof Marcel Levi as he signs the agreement. Also pictured are 
Elie and David Dangoor, first and second left, back row,  
UCLH Medical Director, Prof Geoff Belligan, back centre, and 
UCLH Charity CEO Philip Brading, back right

Two silent discos
Breathing Matters hosted two  
silent discos in the last year,  
raising over £5,000 which will go 
towards important research into 
pulmonary fibrosis and infection  
at UCL Respiratory.

THROUGHOUT 2018/19

Thanks to all our supporters 

Our supporters have continued to 
go the extra mile – and so much 
more by taking part in challenges 
throughout the year to raise funds 
for UCLH Charity. To the sky divers, 
mountain climbers, hill walkers, race 
runners, bake off bakers and to so 
many more, we thank you! 

#TeamUCLH gathers at the construction site of the new cancer 
and surgery building 

HCC supporters taking part in the London Bridgathon
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Fundraising Chair Prof Jeffrey Tobias joins UCLH CEO  
Prof Marcel Levi to place a reflective heart on the tree

APRIL 2018

Machu Picchu trek 

Twenty four people – mainly staff 
from UCLH - trekked the sacred 
Machu Picchu trail in support of 
the UCH Cancer Fund. #TeamUCLH 
raised an impressive total of 
£86,634.
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The trustees have pleasure in presenting their annual 
report for the purposes of the Charities Act 2011, 
together with the accounts for the year ended 31 March 
2019 for University College London Hospitals Charity 
(UCLH Charity). The report is also a directors’ report 
as required by S.415 of the Companies Act 2006. The 
trustees have used the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102) and follow the Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland in preparing 
the annual report and accounts of the charity.

PUBLIC BENEFIT
It is the intention of the trustees that the charitable funds 
should be used to expand on and develop the services 
provided by University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, by funding innovative and original 
projects which would not otherwise be possible using 
only central NHS funds. In formulating and applying 
these objects and planning the work of the charity, the 
trustees have due regard for Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit. 

STRATEGY, PLANNING AND MEASUREMENT
In order to work towards its objectives, the charity 
undertakes regular strategic reviews, based on 
discussions with UCLH NHS Foundation Trust senior 
staff. Each review helps the charity to understand the 
direction of the Foundation Trust, the issues it faces, and 
how the charity can best support it as it moves forward. 

Follow-up reports are received from grant recipients to 
gather evidence on how effective the charity’s funding 
has been. Most projects take some time to show 
measurable results and the benefits accrue gradually,  
so the results of grants made in one accounting period 
may not emerge until future years. 

BALANCE SHEET
The group and the charity’s financial positions are 
summarised on pages 28 and 29 respectively.

The Cotton Rooms patient accommodation, which 
occupies the top two floors of 170 Tottenham Court Road, 
a property owned by the charity, is classified as a tangible 
fixed asset, since it is used to provide services to the 
charity’s beneficiaries. It was valued at £9.1m at 31 March 
2019 (2018: £9.1m). 

The Middlesex Annexe was bought in March 2017 and the 
purchase cost and other associated fees have also been 
classified as a tangible fixed asset, since the property is 
still under construction. The property was transferred to 
Middlesex Annexe LLP on 1 April 2018 on a long lease and 
has continued to be developed by the LLP. This has been 
renamed the Bedford Passage Development and was 
valued at £21.1m at 31 March 2019 (2018: £15.7m). 

The group’s total tangible fixed assets were valued at 
£33.9m at 31 March 2019 (2018: £28.6m).

Investment properties accounted for £67.6m of the 
group’s assets (2018: £67.9m), with a further £41.5m 
represented by listed investments (2018: £40.3m). 
Further details of investment performance are below. 
Debtors stood at £7.5m (2018: £9.7m), and the group 
held £43.7m of cash at bank at 31 March 2019. This 
compares to cash of £35.7m at 31 March 2018 and the 
increase was largely due to a loan of £10m taken out by 
the charity in order to carry out the Bedford Passage 
property development. This loan was taken out with 
Handelsbanken and is repayable after 3 years.

The charity’s main liability was its grant creditors, which 
stood at £16.6m (2018: £17.8m). Total current liabilities 
were £21.0m at 31 March 2019 (2018: £21.7m). 

The balance sheet stood at £161.7m at 31 March 2019 
(2018: £158.9m).

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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 INCOME: GROUP BASIS 2019 2018
  £’000 £’000

01 Donations and legacies 8,149 8,959
02 Turnover of subsidiary companies 5,228 4,536
03 Investment income 4,855 4,652
04 Charitable activities, other  
 fundraising activities and 
 other income 1,280 3,070

  19,512 21,217

EXPENDITURE: GROUP BASIS  2019 2018
    £’000 £’000

05 Cost of generating donations 751 1,564
  and legacies
06 Operating costs of subsidiary 4,986 4,251
  companies and other fundraising  
  trading activities
07 Investment and property 1,653 1,190
  management costs
08 Medical equipment and 1,333 324
  infrastructure
09 Provision of staff and 3,422 4,938
  professional services
10  Patient welfare and amenities 2,041 2,409
11  Medical research 2,072 3,270
12  Staff education and development 2,348 2,961

    18,606 20,907

Expenditure was £18.6m compared to £20.9m for the 
same period last year. This was largely due to the 
reassignment of a grant creditor previously given to 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust for the Education Centre. 
The unused balance of just over £3m was written 
back and will form part of the grant to be given to 
the Foundation Trust for its new cancer and surgery 
centre. Grant expenditure and expenditure from 
discretionary funds are by their nature unpredictable 
and so spending between the different categories of 
charitable activities is not necessarily consistent from 
one financial year to another. 

Income was £19.5m for the year, £1.7m lower than last 
year. This was mainly due to a one-off amount of £1.6m 
in other income last year relating to compensation for 
rights of light for the charity’s Huntley Street properties. 

Donations and legacies are the charity’s largest source 
of funding, and the majority of this is ring-fenced in 
discretionary funds for consultants, departments and 
wards. The charity’s arrangement of working closely 
with clinical staff means that this key funding stream 
is targeted very directly at the priorities identified by 
clinicians, who are best placed to see how funds can be 
used to benefit patients.

01

02

04

05

06

07

10

09

11

12

08

03

27%

41%

25%

7%

4%

27%

13 %

11%

11%

18% 7%

9%

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT



UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2018–19 21UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2018–1920

INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
As at 31 March 2019, the trustees held investment 
assets with a market value of £109.1m (2018: £108.2m), 
consisting of £40.1m held with investment managers, 
£1.0m held in common investment funds and £67.6m 
in investment properties. As a result of the sale of 
Inventive Medical Ltd in 2016-17, the charity holds shares 
in MedaPhor Group plc which were valued at £0.4m at 
the year end. 

During the year, the charity made net investment gains 
of £1.9m (2018: £0.5m), which related mainly to its listed 
investments. Further details are provided in note 14 to 
the accounts, including the breakdown between listed 
investments and investment properties.

The majority of listed investments are held with Sarasin 
& Partners LLP. The charity also owns a number of 
investment properties which provide residential and 
office accommodation, and in addition holds some units 
in the COIF Charities Investment Fund, managed by 
CCLA Investment Management Ltd, and some residual 
investments with Cazenove Capital Management.

Investments in stocks and shares are made in 
accordance with a Charity Commission Scheme dated 
27 March 2017. The charity’s governing documents 
allow the trustees to invest in a wide range of shares 
and investments provided they are not speculative 
or hazardous. The trustees require their investment 
managers to invest in a diversified portfolio of 
investments to provide growth of both capital and 
income over the long term, whilst avoiding exposing 
the charity’s assets to unacceptable high levels of 
risk. Investment is not made directly or indirectly in 
companies which derive 10% or more of their revenue 
from the sale of tobacco or tobacco products. The 
trustees have delegated oversight of listed investment 
matters to the investment sub-committee.

Investment performance is continuously monitored and 
measured in-house, against trustees’ and investment 
management benchmarks on a monthly basis. 
Investment advisers meet with the officers regularly  
and with the trustees twice a year to discuss strategies 
and performance. The trustees remain satisfied that 
their investment objectives are being met. 

The trustees have delegated oversight of properties to 
the property sub-committee. A desktop revaluation of 
the charity’s investment properties was carried out as 
at 31 March 2019, in line with the requirements of the 
Charities’ Statement of Recommended Practice. 

RESERVES 
At 31 March 2019, the total funds of the group amounted 
to £161.7m. A full breakdown is shown in note 19.

Endowment funds totalled £7.1m (2018: £6.7m) and 
restricted funds amounted to £2.9m (2018: £2.5m).  
A further £53.5m (2018: £52.2m) was held in 
discretionary funds which have been designated for the 
support of consultants, departments and wards. For 
these funds, decisions over spending are delegated to 
senior clinical staff, so the funds are not available for 
general application by the charity. 

Discretionary funds included a figure of £27.9m (2018: 
£26.7m) which has been set aside for the Foundation 
Trust with a view to it being used in the near future for 
the hospital’s Phase 4 building. This is in construction 
and will incorporate the new proton beam therapy unit 
and additional patient beds for those receiving long-
term cancer care. A further £13.9m (2018: £13.0m) is 
held in other designated funds, under the control of  
the trustees but ring-fenced for specific projects.

The trustees have ongoing commitments relating 
to the welfare of both patients and staff. Apart from 
donations and legacies, which are by their nature 
unpredictable, the income received by the charity’s 
undesignated funds is primarily derived from 
investments and property rental. The trustees therefore 
consider that there is a need to maintain a level of free 
reserves to generate sufficient income to meet these 
commitments, allowing for fluctuations in the returns 
that these investments generate. 

The charity’s expenditure varies from year to year and is 
often significant on any one project, be it the purchase 
of expensive medical equipment or a major capital 
scheme. A substantial level of free reserves is required 
both to meet known likely expenditure up to two or three 
years’ forward and unforeseen expenditure. 

The level of undesignated general funds at 31 March 
2019 was £82.8m. However, the charity has investment 
properties of £67.6m and tangible fixed assets excluding 
revaluation of £7.5m which are of strategic importance. 
The funds represented by these assets are not 
immediately available for use in the charity’s activities 
so the level of reserves which the charity has available 
for its activities is £7.7m. 

The charity continuously monitors the level of reserves 
to ensure that commitments can be met, and the trustees 
review the reserves policy on an annual basis. A suitable 
target level of reserves is under consideration, but the 
trustees consider that the level of free reserves at 31 
March 2019 is adequate to meet the charity’s needs.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The trustees recognise that they have a responsibility to 
minimise the level of risk to which their activities could 
be exposed. They actively review the major risks which 
the group and charity face on a regular basis and believe 
that the maintenance of reserves, combined with the 
annual review of the controls over key financial systems 
will provide sufficient resources for committed grants in 
the event of adverse conditions.

UCLH Charity assesses risks for both likelihood 
of occurrence and potential financial impact, with 
procedures established to mitigate these as far as 
possible. Risks which score highly on both scales are 
monitored closely. At present, the most serious risks 
the charity has identified fall into two broad categories; 
investments and investment property. The charity 
considers that appropriate mitigating procedures are in 
place in both these areas, supported by the existence 
of specialist sub-committees on each area reporting to 
the trustees. In particular, lack of appropriate investment 
policies or poor investment performance, which could 
lead to financial loss, is mitigated by the involvement of 
professional investment management firms who meet 
regularly with the trustees and officers. The risk of a 
property market collapse, which could have a significant 
impact on the value of the charity’s investment 
properties, is mitigated by the fact that the properties 
are held by the charity as long-term investments and 
long-term rental agreements are held with tenants, the 
majority of which are UCLH NHS Foundation Trust or 
University College London. The risks associated with 
the significant capital project currently being undertaken 
are mitigated by the use of professional advisors and 
regular monitoring procedures are in place.

FUNDRAISING
UCLH Charity aims to achieve best practice in the way in 
which it communicates with donors and other supporters 
and is registered with the Fundraising Regulator. It 
takes care with both the tone of its communications and 
the accuracy of its data to minimise the pressures on 
supporters. It applies best practice to protect supporters’ 
data and never sells data, never swaps data and ensures 
that communication preferences can be changed at any 
time. The charity undertakes to react to and investigate 
any complaints regarding its fundraising activities and 
to learn from them and improve its services. During 
the year, the charity received no complaints about its 
fundraising activities. Third party fundraisers are not 
used. The charity supports the fundraising strategy of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust and their priority is to raise 
funds for the new cancer and surgery centre and the 
new Royal National Ear, Nose and Throat and Eastman 
Dental Hospitals.

 PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS
 Over the next five years, the charity plans:

•  To make a grant of £27.9m to UCLH for its new cancer 
and surgery centre. This grant will be the largest ever 
made by the charity;

•  To provide grants to UCLH for projects to improve 
patient care and the patient experience, ensuring that 
these are over and above NHS provision;

•  To work with its fundholders who run ward and 
discretionary funds, supporting them in the valuable 
work they do on our behalf and assisting with their 
fundraising initiatives;

•  To generate new income streams, particularly through 
our project to develop the Bedford Passage;

•  To continue to support UCLH staff by funding 
educational courses, rewarding exceptional service and 
providing interest-free season ticket loans; and

•  To improve the profile of the charity within the hospitals 
and the community they serve, both to increase the level 
of support from the public and to celebrate the benefits 
which the charity provides.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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DISCRETIONARY FUNDS
A significant proportion of the charity’s activities are 
delivered by the staff of the Foundation Trust, who are 
a key link to patients and supporters. For discretionary 
funds, which are designated (see note 19), the charity 
relies on these staff to submit proposals for the most 
effective use of funds, bearing in mind their knowledge 
of local needs in their own wards and departments. 
These requests are reviewed and authorised by officers 
of the charity to ensure that expenditure is in accordance 
with the charity’s objects. 

Subsidiary companies owned by UCLH Charity and 
consolidated in these accounts 
The charity owns the entire share capital of the 
entities listed below, whose results are consolidated 
in these accounts:

QS Enterprises Ltd (company number 01850377)
This company provides clinical imaging services to 
patients of the NHS and private hospitals. It has a 
separate board of directors who report to the charity 
trustees on a regular basis. The company was able to 
make a Gift Aid contribution to the charity of £0.46m in 
2018-19. Further details of its financial results are given 
in note 3.

Middlesex UCLHC Ltd (company number 10821655) 
This company was formed on 15 June 2017 to carry out 
property activities. Its financial activities commenced 
on 1 April 2018. Further details of its financial results are 
given in note 4.

Middlesex Annexe LLP (registered number OC417941) 
This limited liability partnership was formed on 28 June 
2017 to carry out property activities, in particular the 
development of the former Middlesex Annexe in Fitzrovia, 
now renamed the Bedford Passage Development. UCLH 
Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd are members of the 
partnership. Its financial activities commenced on 1 
April 2018 when it acquired a long lease on the property. 
Further details of its financial results are given in note 5.

ASSOCIATED ORGANISATIONS
The charity exists to support the work of UCLH NHS 
Foundation Trust, with which it has a close working 
relationship. The Foundation Trust chairman and chief 
executive are invited to attend regular trustees’ meetings, 
but the trustees of UCLH Charity are totally independent 
of the Foundation Trust. 

The charity also works with the Essex Wynter Charity 
(registered charity number 1084786), an independent 
charity which provides grants, scholarships and 
accommodation for the benefit of current and past 
employees of The Middlesex Hospital and UCLH who 
are in need of financial assistance. UCLH Charity has the 
responsibility of appointing the Essex Wynter Charity 
trustees and provides administrative support. Close 
links are maintained between the two bodies as staff of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust benefit from the activities 
of both entities.
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UCLH CHARITY STRUCTURE
Following a restructuring process supported by the 
Department of Health and the Charity Commission, 
University College London Hospitals Charity 
reconstituted as a charitable company limited by 
guarantee registered with the Charity Commission 
(no.1165398) and Companies House (09980449).  
The charity is an incorporated organisation and operates 
under a Charity Commission Scheme dated 27 March 
2017 and the trustees are members of the charitable 
company. Its objects are covered in its Articles of 
Association, dated 1 February 2016 and for the public 
benefit, to further any charitable purposes relating to  
any purposes of University College London NHS 
Foundation Trust or that of the health service. 

TRUSTEES
For continuation purposes, a number of trustees who 
were previously trustees of the former NHS charity 
became trustees of the new charity, carrying over their 
terms of office. New trustees are appointed by the trustee 
board after an appointment process. They are selected 
to provide the charity with a relevant mix of professional 
skills in health, law, investment management, properties, 
and charitable grant-making. Altogether the charity has 
seven trustees composed of four independent trustees, 
one Foundation Trust trustee and two clinical trustees 
nominated by the Foundation Trust.

Newly appointed trustees are provided with packs 
which provide details on the duties and roles of a charity 
trustee and information about how the charity operates. 
In addition, new trustees meet the chairman and officers 
of the charity to discuss the organisation’s objectives 
and direction. 

Trustees are kept up to date regularly with changes 
relating to charity legislation. Conferences organised by 
legal, financial and investment professionals are available 
for trustees to attend. The charity is also a member of 
the Association of NHS Charities, which offers regular 
seminars for the trustees.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

ORGANISATION AND DECISION-MAKING 
PROCESS
The trustees are responsible for setting the strategic 
direction of the organisation and for establishing policy. 
They meet quarterly to discuss and review the group and 
charity’s state of affairs. The trustees delegate the day-
to-day administration of the charity to the chief executive 
who is supported by accounting and administrative staff.

The charity invites applications for funding of projects 
through University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. Grant bids must be approved by the 
UCLH Senior Director Team before consideration by 
the trustees, to ensure that grants made are in line with 
the strategic direction of the Foundation Trust. Grant 
bids which have been passed by the Foundation Trust 
are discussed at quarterly trustees’ meetings which the 
Foundation Trust’s chairman and chief executive are 
invited to attend in an advisory capacity. Decisions to 
approve all or part of a particular grant are made by  
the trustees following these discussions.

There are three sub-committees, investment, property 
and remuneration. The remuneration sub-committee 
recommends a level of remuneration for key management 
personnel comprising the chief executive and the 
executive team. This sub-committee consists of at least 
three trustees with appropriate skills and experience. It 
meets at least once a year and reports to the full board of 
trustees. Further details of key management personnel 
and their remuneration are  
given in note 11. 

Chief Executive

Investment 
Committee

Property 
Committee

Renumeration 
Committee

TRUSTEES

Development 
Director

Charity
Secretary

Finance 
Director
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of University 
College London Hospitals Charity (the ‘charitable parent 
company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the group 
statement of financial activities, the group and charitable 
parent company balance sheets and statements of 
cash flows, the principal accounting policies and notes 
to the financial statements. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 
‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 
company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable company and the charitable company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
of the charitable parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 
2019 and of the group’s income and expenditure for the 
year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

•  the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

•  the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements 
any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the group’s or the charitable 
parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Other information 
The trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements,  
we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES

  The trustees (who are also directors of University College 
London Hospitals Charity for the purposes of company 
law) are responsible for preparing the trustees’ report 
and financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company 
and the group and of the income and expenditure of the 
group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the trustees  
are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

•  observe the methods and principles in Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);

•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent;

•  state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and the group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention  
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Each of the trustees confirms that:

•  so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the charitable company’s auditor  
is unaware; and

•  the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a trustee in order to make himself/herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the charitable company’s auditor is aware of  
that information.

TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Signed on behalf of the trustees:

James Thorne 
Chairman

31 October 2019 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
INCLUDING AN INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
       2019 2018
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Income and endowments from:     
Donations and legacies 2 7,884  265  –  8,149  8,959 
Charitable activities  1,169  –  –  1,169  1,315 
Other trading activities     
 Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd 3 5,228  –  –  5,228  4,536 
 Other fundraising activities  101  –  –  101  93 
Investments 6 4,780  75  –  4,855  4,652 
Other  10  –  –  10  1,662 
Total income  19,172  340  –  19,512  21,217

Expenditure on:    
Raising funds
 Costs of generating donations and legacies   746  5  –  751  1,564 
 Fundraising trading expenditure      
  Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd 3 4,700  –  –  4,700  4,251 
  Operating costs of Middlesex Annexe LLP  5 239  –  –  239  – 
  Other   47  –  –  47  – 
 Investment management costs     
  Costs of managing quoted investments  154  7  22  183  234 
  Costs of managing, maintaining and  
  repairing investment properties  1,159  –  –  1,159  869 
  Bank interest and charges on loan relating  
  to investment properties  311  –  –  311  87 
Charitable activities 7 
 Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  1,332  1  –  1,333  324 
 Provision of staff and professional services  3,406  16  –  3,422  4,938 
 Patient welfare and amenities  2,020  21  –  2,041  2,409 
 Medical research  2,071  1  –  2,072  3,270 
 Staff education and development  2,342  6  –  2,348  2,961 
Total expenditure  18,527  57  22  18,606  20,907 

Net income before investment gains  645 283 (22) 906 310
Net gains on investments 14 1,434  89  367  1,890  485 
Net income/(expenditure)  2,079  372 345  2,796  795

Other recognised gains      
Gains on revaluation of tangible fixed assets 13 –  –  –  –  1,564

Net movement in funds  2,079  372 345  2,796  2,359

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 19 149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939  156,580 
Total funds carried forward  151,788  2,863 7,084  161,735  158,939

All of the group’s activities in the above two financial periods were derived from continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 31 to 46 form part of these accounts. 

Detailed comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2018 is given in note 1 to the accounts. 

TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED 
BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

•  the information given in the trustees’ report including 
the strategic report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•  the trustees’ report including the strategic report has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the group and the charitable parent company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we  
have not identified material misstatements in the 
trustees’ report including the strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
charitable parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by 
us; or

•  the charitable parent company financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

•  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified  
by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities 
statement, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary  
to enable the preparation of financial statements that  
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and the charitable 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group  
or the charitable parent company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Shachi Blakemore  
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor 
130 Wood Street, London EC2V 6DL

31 October 2019 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS (continued)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
      2019    2018

     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds  Funds  Funds 
    Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000  £’000

Fixed assets          
Tangible assets 13 33,890  –  –  33,890  28,609 – – 28,609 
Listed investments and investment  
properties 14 100,937  1,045  7,084  109,066  100,525 969 6,739 108,233 
Programme-related loans 15 56  –  –  56  70 – – 70 
Total fixed assets  134,883  1,045  7,084  143,012  129,204 969 6,739 136,912 

Current assets          
Debtors 16 7,459  –  –  7,459  9,709  – – 9,709 
Cash at hand and in bank  41,914  1,818  –  43,732  34,221 1,522 – 35,743 
Total current assets  49,373  1,818  –  51,191  43,930 1,522 – 45,452 

Current liabilities         
Creditors: amounts falling due  
within one year 17 21,013  –  –  21,013  21,735  – – 21,735 
Net current assets  28,360  1,818  –  30,178  22,195 1,522 – 23,717 

Total assets less current liabilities  163,243  2,863  7,084  173,190  151,399 2,491 6,739 160,629 

Creditors: amounts falling due after  
more than one year  18a 11,380  –  –  11,380  1,615  – – 1,615 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 18b 75  –  –  75  75  – - 75 
Total net assets  151,788  2,863  7,084  161,735  149,709 2,491 6,739 158,939 

The funds of the charity          
Capital funds         
Endowment funds 19 –  –  7,084  7,084  – – 6,739  6,739 

Income funds          
 Restricted funds 19 –  2,863  –  2,863  – 2,491 – 2,491

 Unrestricted funds          
  General funds 19 82,817  –  –  82,817  82,948  – – 82,948  
  Designated discretionary funds 19 53,481  –  –  53,481  52,183  – – 52,183  
  Other designated funds 19 13,926  –  –  13,926  13,014  – – 13,014  
  Revaluation reserve 19 1,564  –  –  1,564  1,564  – – 1,564 
Total funds  151,788 2,863  7,084  161,735  149,709 2,491 6,739 158,939

The notes on pages 31 to 46 form part of these accounts. 

Signed on behalf of the trustees

James Thorne
Chairman

31 October 2019

Company Registration Number 09980449
(England and Wales)

CHARITY ONLY BALANCE SHEET 
     2019    2018

    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

Fixed assets          
Tangible assets 13 9,090  –  –  9,090 24,758  – – 24,758 
 Listed investments and  
 investment properties 14 100,937  1,045  7,084  109,066  100,525 969 6,739 108,233 
 Programme-related loans 15 56  –  –  56  70  – – 70 
Total fixed assets  110,083  1,045  7,084  118,212  125,353 969 6,739 133,061 

Current assets          
Debtors 16 31,324 –  –  31,324  11,616  – – 11,616 
Cash at hand and in bank  40,803  1,818  –  42,621  35,565 1,522 – 35,087 
Total current assets  72,127  1,818  –  73,945  45,181 1,522 – 46,703 

Current liabilities          
Creditors: amounts falling due  
within one year 17 19,392  –  –  19,392  20,887  – – 20,887 

Net current assets  52,735  1,818  –  54,553  24,294 1,522 – 25,816 
Total assets less current liabilities  162,818  2,863  7,084  172,765  149,647 2,491 6,739 158,877 

Creditors: amounts falling due  
within one year 18 10,000  –  –  10,000  – – – –
Total net assets  152,818  2,863 7,084  162,765  – – – 158,877 

The funds of the charity         
Capital funds          
Endowment funds 19 –  – 7,084  7,084  – – 6,739  6,739 

Income funds          
 Restricted funds 19 –  2,863  –  2,863 – 2,491 – 2,491 
 Unrestricted funds          
  General funds  83,911  –  –  83,911  82,886  – – 82,886 
  Designated discretionary  
  funds 19 53,481 –  –  53,481  52,183  – – 52,183 
  Other designated funds  13,862  –  –  13,862  13,014  – – 13,014 
  Revaluation reserve 19 1,564  –  –  1,564  1,564  – – 1,564 
Total funds  152,818  2,863 7,084  162,765 149,647 2,491 6,739 158,877 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation 
The accounts have been prepared under the historic cost convention, with the exception of 
investments which are included at fair value. 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014  
and the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102) and the Charities Act 2011 and UK Generally Accepted Practice as it applies from 1 January 2015. 

The accounts are presented in sterling and rounded to the nearest thousand pounds.

The charity is a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about UCLH Charity’s ability to continue  
as a going concern. Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees to make significant judgements and 
estimates. The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made include:

• estimating investment management fees charged on managed funds; 

• estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets and intangible assets; and

• the basis for allocation of support costs.

The results of the wholly-owned subsidiary company, QS Enterprises Ltd, have been consolidated  
in these accounts on a line-by-line basis. Further details are given in note 3.

A new wholly-owned subsidiary company, Middlesex UCLHC Ltd, was set up in 2017-18. Its financial 
activities commenced on 1 April 2018 and have been consolidated into these accounts on a line-by-
line basis. Further details are given in note 4. 

A new limited liability partnership, Middlesex Annexe LLP, was set up in 2017-18. The two partners 
in the partnership are UCLH Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd. The LLP’s financial activities 
commenced on 1 April 2018 and have been consolidated into these accounts on a line-by-line basis. 
Further details are given in note 5. 

On 1 April 2017 the entire undertaking of the unincorporated trust then known as University College 
London Hospitals Charity (the ‘Old Charity’) was transferred to a new charitable company called 
University College London Hospitals Charity, a company limited by guarantee and registered in 
England and Wales (the ‘New Charity’) company number 09980449.

No separate statement of financial activities has been presented for the parent charity alone, as 
permitted by s.408 of the Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 24.36 of SORP 2015. 

Funds structure 
Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified 
either as a restricted fund or an endowment fund. Restricted funds are those where the donor has 
provided for the donation to be spent in furtherance of a specified charitable purpose. Endowment 
funds arise when the donor has expressly provided that the gift is to be invested and only the income 
of the fund may be spent. 

Those funds which are neither endowment nor restricted income funds, are unrestricted income 
funds which are sub analysed between designated (earmarked) funds where the trustees have set 
aside amounts to be used for specific purposes or which reflect the non-binding wishes of donors and 
unrestricted funds which are at the trustees’ discretion, including the general funds which represent  
the charity’s reserves. The major funds held in each of these categories are disclosed in note 19.

Income 
All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the resources, it is probable (more likely 
than not) that the resources will be received and the monetary value of income can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. Where there are terms or conditions attached to income, particularly grants, then 
these terms or conditions must be met before the income is recognised as the entitlement condition 
will not be satisfied until that point. Where terms or conditions have not been met or uncertainty 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
       2019 2018
      Note £’000  £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net cash used in operating activities    21 (1,823) (2,469)

Cash flows from investing activities:      
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     4,855  4,170 
Proceeds from the sale of investments     23,885  24,349 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets     (5,879) (3,033)
Purchase of investments     (22,828) (8,724)
Repayments of programme-related loans      14  13
Net cash provided by investing activities     47  16,775

Cash flows from financing activities       
Cash inflows from new borrowing     10,000  –
Capital element of finance lease repayments     (235) (217)
Net cash used in financing activities     9,765 (217)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period    7,989  14,089

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period    35,743  21,654 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period    43,732  35,743 
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exists as to whether they can be met then the relevant income is not recognised in the year but deferred 
and shown on the balance sheet as deferred income.

Legacies are accounted for as income either upon receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is probable. 
Receipt is probable when: 

•  Confirmation has been received from the representatives of the estate(s) that probate has been granted 

• The executors have established that there are sufficient assets in the estate to pay the legacy and 

• All conditions attached to the legacy have been fulfilled or are within the charity’s control. 

The income received from the invested endowment funds is wholly restricted.

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT  
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that 
aggregate all costs related to each category of expense shown in the statement of financial activities. 
Expenditure is recognised when the following criteria are met: 

• There is a present legal or constructive obligation resulting from a past event 

•  It is more likely than not that a transfer of benefits (usually a cash payment) will be required in settlement 

• The amount of the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. 

Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of expenditure for which it was incurred.

Grants payable are payments made to linked, related party or third party NHS bodies, in furtherance of 
the charity’s objectives. Grant payments are recognised as expenditure when the conditions for their 
payment have been met or where there is a constructive obligation to make a payment.  
A constructive obligation arises when: 

•  We have communicated our intention to award a grant to a recipient who then has a reasonable 
expectation that they will receive a grant;

•  We have made a public announcement about a commitment which is specific enough for the recipient 
to have a reasonable expectation that they will receive a grant; and

•  There is an established pattern of practice which indicates to the recipient that we will honour  
our commitment. 

The trustees have control over the amount and timing of grant payments and consequently where 
approval has been given by the trustees and any of the above criteria have been met then a liability is 
recognised. Grants are not usually awarded with conditions attached. However, when they are, then 
those conditions have to be met before the liability is recognised.

Allocation of support costs 
Support costs are those costs which do not relate directly to a single activity. These include staff costs, 
costs of administration, legal fees and audit fees. Support costs have been apportioned between costs 
of raising funds and charitable activities on an appropriate basis. The analysis of support costs and the 
bases of apportionment applied are shown in note 8.

Costs of raising funds 
The costs of raising funds are those costs attributable to generating income for the charity, other than 
those costs incurred in undertaking charitable activities or the costs incurred in undertaking trading 
activities in furtherance of the charity’s objects. The costs of raising funds represent fundraising costs 
together with the operating costs of the charity’s subsidiary companies, investment management fees 
and property management costs. 

Charitable activities  
Costs of charitable activities comprise all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of 
the charity. These costs, where not wholly attributable, are apportioned between the categories of 
charitable expenditure in addition to the direct costs. The total costs of each category of charitable 
expenditure include an apportionment of support costs as shown in note 7.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Neither the charity nor its subsidiary companies have a strict monetary limit below which fixed assets 
are not capitalised. Instead, each asset or group of assets is considered separately and capitalised if 
appropriate, unless the value is clearly negligible.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated 
residual value of each asset evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease
Furniture, medical and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 2 to 3 years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Land and buildings are subject to revaluation and are not depreciated. Formal valuations for land and 
buildings are usually carried out by a professional valuer at five yearly intervals and a formal valuation 
was last carried out by Dron & Wright at 31 March 2018. Between formal valuations, desktop valuations 
are provided by a professional valuer, which are used to value the freehold land and buildings in the 
accounts at the year end date. Valuation gains and losses are credited (or debited) to other gains or losses 
within the statement of financial activities with the balance sheet reflecting the revalued amounts. Any 
revaluation losses in excess of previously recognised revaluation gains are shown within the appropriate 
heading of expenditure.

Investments 
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are included in the accounts at their 
market value as at the balance sheet date. Investment portfolios are held with Sarasin & Partners 
LLP, Cazenove Capital Management and CCLA. For Sarasin & Partners LLP and Cazenove Capital 
Management, quoted stocks and shares are included in the balance sheet at bid price at close of business 
on the valuation date. Realised and unrealised gains (or losses) are credited (or debited) to the statement 
of financial activities in the year in which they arise. 

The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial instruments.

Formal valuations for land and buildings are usually carried out by a professional valuer at five yearly 
intervals and a formal valuation was last carried out by Dron & Wright at 31 March 2018. Between 
formal valuations, desktop valuations are provided by a professional valuer, which are used to value the 
investment properties in the accounts at the year end date. Valuation gains and losses are credited (or 
debited) to the statement of financial activities with the balance sheet reflecting the revalued amounts. 
No depreciation is charged on investment properties. 

Investments in subsidiary companies are valued at cost with provision being made for any permanent 
diminution in value. 

Programme-related loans 
Programme-related loans comprise loans made by the charity to related organisations in furtherance of 
UCLH Charity’s objectives. These are included in the balance sheet at the recoverable amount. 

Fund structure 
General funds represent those monies which are freely available for application towards achieving any 
charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects. The designated funds are monies or assets 
set aside out of general funds and designated for specific purposes by the trustees. Restricted funds are 
those for which a legal restriction exists over their use. Endowment funds consist of capital held in perpetuity 
where the related income may be used for unrestricted or restricted purposes as specified by the donor.

Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on demand or  
have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. 

Pension costs 
Employees of the Old Charity at 31 March 2017 were entitled to join the NHS Pensions Scheme, an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, 
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allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed 
to be run in a way that would enable participating bodies to identify their share of the underlying Scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the charity of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
Scheme for the accounting period. 

The Scheme is a final salary scheme. Since 1 April 2015 there have been two separate pension schemes 
covering NHS workers. The 1995/2008 Scheme closed with effect from 1 April 2015 except for some 
members entitled to continue in this Scheme through ‘Protection’ arrangements. On 1 April 2015 a new 
NHS Pension Scheme was introduced. This new Scheme covers all former members of the 1995/2008 
Scheme not eligible to continue in that Scheme as well as new NHS employees on or after 1 April 2015. 

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years, and an IAS 19 accounting valuation 
every year. The valuation of scheme liability in accordance with IAS 19 is carried out annually by the 
Scheme Actuary. The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the Scheme 
Actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource 
Account, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.

A defined contribution scheme has been set up for any employees who join the New Charity. Any 
contributions will be charged on a payable basis. 

QS Enterprises Ltd contributes to the personal pension schemes of all employees, other than directors. 
Contributions are charged to the statement of financial activities as they become payable in accordance 
with the contribution rates agreed with the relevant employees. 

Leased assets 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risk and rewards of 
ownership of the asset have passed to the company, are capitalised in the balance sheet and are 
depreciated over their useful lives. The capital elements of future obligations under finance leases are 
included as liabilities in the balance sheet. 

The interest elements of the rental obligations are charged to the statement of financial activities over the 
period of the leases and represent a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding. 

Debtors 
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-recoverability. 
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted to the present value of the 
future cash receipt where such discounting is material.

Creditors and provisions 
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and 
the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised at the 
amount the charity anticipates it will pay to settle the debt. They have been discounted to the present 
value of the future cash payment where such discounting is material.

Financial instruments 
The charity only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and financial 
liabilities of the charity and their measurement basis are as follows:

Financial assets – other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost. 

Listed investments are a basic financial instrument as detailed above. Prepayments are not financial 
instruments. 

Cash at bank – classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value

Financial liabilities – accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at 
amortised cost.
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01 Comparative consolidated statement of financial activities split between funds
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
          
         2018
      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total 
      Funds  Funds  Funds   Funds 
     Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

 Income and endowments from:       
 Donations and legacies  2 8,959 – – 8,959
 Charitable activities   1,315 – – 1,315
 Other trading activities
  Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd  3 4,536  –  –  4,536
  Other fundraising activities   93  –  –  93
 Investments  6 4,575  77  –  4,652
 Other   1,662  –  –  1,662
 Total income   21,140  77  –  21,217

 Expenditure on:       
 Raising funds       
  Costs of generating donations and legacies    1,555  9  –  1,564
  Fundraising trading expenditure        
   Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd  3 4,251  –  –  4,251
  Investment management costs       
   Costs of managing quoted investments   192  9  33  234
   Costs of managing, maintaining and  repairing investment  
   properties   869  –  –  869
   Bank interest and charges on loan relating  to investment  
   properties   87  –  –  87
 Charitable activities  7     
  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs   278  46  –  324
  Provision of staff and professional services   4,936  2  –  4,938
  Patient welfare and amenities   2,368  41  –  2,409
  Medical research   3,268  2 –  3,270
  Staff education and development   2,948  13 –  2,961
 Total expenditure   20,752  122 33  20,907

 Net income/(expenditure) before investment gains   388  (45)  (33)  310
 Net gains on investments  14 391  25  69  485
 Net income/(expenditure)   779  (20) 36  795

 Other recognised gains       
 Gains on revaluation of fixed assets  13 1,564 –  –  1,564

 Net movement in funds   2,343  (20) 36  2,359

 Reconciliation of funds       
 Total funds brought forward  19 147,366  2,511  6,703  156,580
 Total funds carried forward  19 149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939
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02 Donations and legacies

       2019    2018  

     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000 

  Donations 4,230 265 – 4,495  5,506 – – 5,506
  Legacies 1,719 – – 1,719  906 – – 906
  Grants 1,935 – – 1,935  2,547 – – 2,547
     7,884 265 – 8,149  8,959 – – 8,959

03  QS Enterprises Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, QS Enterprises Ltd, is incorporated in England and Wales  
(company number 01850377). Its principal activity is the provision of clinical imaging services to patients  
of NHS and private hospitals. QS Enterprises Ltd donates its taxable profit, if any, to UCLH Charity.  
A summary of its results is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the company are filed with  
the Registrar of Companies. The share capital of QS Enterprises Ltd has a nominal value of £2.

     2019 2018
     Total   Total 
      £’000   £’000 

Turnover    5,228  4,536 
Operating expenses    (4,575) (4,122)
Audit fee    (15) (15)
Bank interest receivable     1  – 
Interest payable    (176) (157)
Profit for the year before Gift Aid    463  242 
Gift Aid payable    (461)  (237) 
Retained profit for the year    2  5
Reserves brought forward    62  57 
Reserves carried forward    64  62 

04 Middlesex UCLHC Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, Middlesex UCLHC Ltd, is incorporated in England and Wales  
(company number 10821655). The company operates as a holding company in order to facilitate the  
development of the site of the former Middlesex Hospital Annexe. It was incorporated on 15 June 2017 and  
began trading on 1 April 2018. It donates its taxable profit, if any, to UCLH Charity. A summary of its results  
is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the company are filed with the Registrar of Companies.  
The share capital of Middlesex UCLHC Ltd has a nominal value of £1.

         2019 2018
          Total  Total 
         £’000  £’000

Turnover      120  – 
Operating expenses      (120)  –
Audit fee      (2)  –
Loss for the year      (2)  –
Interest receivable      522  –
Interest payable      (520)  –

Profit for the year      –  –
Reserves brought forward      –  –
Reserves carried forward      –  –
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05 Middlesex Annexe LLP 
This limited liability partnership has registered number OC417941 and consists of two partners,  
UCLH Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd. The LLP was formed on 28 June 2017 and began trading on  
1 April 2018. Its principal activity is property development and its aim is to maximise profits for its  
members. A summary of its results is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the LLP are filed  
with the Registrar of Companies.

          2019 2018
           Total  Total 
           £’000  £’000

Turnover      –  – 
Operating expenses      (237)  –
Audit fee      (2)  –
Interest payable      (855)  –

Loss for the year      (1094)  –
Reserves brought forward      –  –

  Losses carried forward      (1094)  –

06 Investment income
    2019    2018

     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000  £’000

Investment properties  3,566  – –  3,566  3,471 – – 3,471 
Listed investments  952  41 –  993  1,049  43 – 1,092
Common deposit or   
common investment funds  – 34 –  34  – 34 – 34
Investment cash  65  – –  65  25 – – 25 
Other investments  197  – –  197  30 – – 30 

    4,780  75 –  4,855  4,575 77 – 4,652 

07 Charitable activities
       2019 2018

     Grant     Grant
     Activities  funded  Support   Activities funded Support 
    undertaken  activities  costs  Total  undertaken  activities  costs  Total
    directly  (note 9)  (note 8)  Funds  directly  (note 9)  (note 8)  Funds
     £’000   £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000   £’000

Improvements to patient services      
 Medical equipment and   
 infrastructure costs 584  690  59  1,333  312 –  12  324
 Provision of staff and   
 professional services 2,747  523  152  3,422  2,631 2,131  176  4,938
 Patient welfare and amenities 1,003  947  91  2,041  1,322 1,001  86  2,409 

Medical research 1,587  393  92  2,072  1,554 1,600  116  3,270 
Staff education and development 3,943  1,336  105  2,348  2,856 –  105  2,961 
Grant write back (see note 9) –  (3,036)  –  (3,036)  – –  –  –

    9,864  853  499  11,216  8,675 4,732  495  13,902

The charity has a number of designated discretionary funds where decisions over spending are  
delegated to ward or consultant level, under the oversight of officers of the charity. Direct expenditure  
from these funds delivered a significant proportion of the activities of the charity. More details are  
given in the Report of the Trustees. 
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08 Support costs – apportionment
      2019

      Staff &  Patient   Staff   
    Raising    professional  welfare &  Medical  education &  Totals

Expenditure type Basis of apportionment   funds Equipment services amenities research development costs    
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000   £’000 

Charity staff salaries Time   263 39 101 60 61 70 594 
Governance Proportional to salaries   35 2 5 3 3 4 52 
Premises costs Proportional to salaries   78 12 30 18 18 20 176 
Other office and Proportional to salaries   58 6 16 10 10 11 111 
sundry costs  

   434 59 152 91 92 105 933 

      2018

      Staff &  Patient   Staff   
    Raising    professional  welfare &  Medical  education &  Totals

Expenditure type Basis of apportionment   funds Equipment services amenities research development costs  
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000   £’000 

Charity staff salaries Time   395  8  116  56  75 69   719 
Governance Proportional to salaries   41  –  7  4  5 4   61 
Premises costs Proportional to salaries   128  3  37  18  25 22   233 
Other office and Proportional to salaries   61  1  16  8  11 10   107 
sundry costs  

   625  12  176  86  116 105   1,120 

09 Analysis of grants
    2019  2018 

   Number of   Aggregate   Number of  Aggregate 
   grants  amount paid grants  amount paid 
    £’000   £’000 

Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  7 690  –   – 
Provision of staff and professional services  5 523  14  2,131 
Patient welfare and amenities  5 947  10  1,001 
Medical research  2 393 1  1,600 
Staff education and development  7 1,336 –  – 
Grant write-back  – (3,036) –  – 
Charitable activities  26 853  25  4,732 
Fundraising  –  –  2  508 

   26  853   27  5,240 

All grants were to UCLH NHS Foundation Trust. During the year, the trustees wrote back a grant creditor  
of £3.04m which was given to the Foundation Trust in 2008-09 for its Education Centre. It was agreed that  
the unused balance of this grant be set aside and it will form part of the grant to be given to the  
Foundation Trust for its new cancer and surgery centre. 
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10 Net movement in funds
  This is stated after charging: 2019    2018

      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total Unrestricted  Restricted Endowment Total  
      Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds Funds Funds 
      £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Staff costs (note 11) 2,322 –  –  2,322 2,182 –  – 2,182 
Auditors’ remuneration         
   Statutory audit services, charity only         
   Current year 15  –  –  15 24 –  –  24

   Statutory audit services, subsidiary 
   companies 20  –  –  20 15 –  – 15 

   Other services 19  – – 19 11 –  – 11 
Depreciation 598  –  –  598 684 –  –  684
Operating lease charges 266  –  –  266 207 –  –  207

11 Staff costs    2019 2018
        Total Total 
         Funds  Funds 
        £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries      1,978  1,845 
Employer’s national insurance costs      213  206 
Pension costs      131 131 

           2,322  2,182 
 
    Headcount Full time equivalent

    2019 2018 2019 2018

The average number of employees, analysed by function, was: 
Charity employees  10 10  9  9 
Staff of trading subsidiaries  39  38  39 38 

    49   48  48  47 

The number of senior employees whose emoluments for the year amounted to £60,000 or more were:
    2019   2018

   Charity  Subsidiaries  Total  Charity  Subsidiaries  Total

£60,001 – £70,000 –  2   2 – 3 3 
£70,001 – £80,000 1  –  1  2 – 2 
£80,001 – £90,000 1  –  1   – – – 
£90,001 – £100,000 –  –  –   1 – 1 
£110,001 – £120,000 1  –  1  – – – 
£120,001 – £130,000 –  –  –  – 1 1 
£130,001 – £140,000 –  1  1  – – – 
£170,001 – £180,000  –   –  –  1 – 1 
£180,001 – £190,000 1   –  1 – – – 

   4   3   7  4 4 8 

The key management personnel of the charity comprise the Chief Executive, the Development Director,  
the Charity Secretary and the Finance Director. The total remuneration paid to the key management  
personnel including employer’s national insurance and pension contributions was £450K (2018: £427K). 

Benefits were accruing to one of the above members of staff under the defined benefit pension scheme  
outlined under accounting policies (2018: one member of staff). Contributions of £12K (2018: £11K) were  
made to purchase defined contribution pension benefits on behalf of one of the above members of staff.

None of the trustees received remuneration during this or the preceding year. Expenses totalling £1,033  
were reimbursed to two trustees (2018: £2,314 to three trustees).

The charity has purchased insurance to protect trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors  
or omissions occurring whilst on charity business. The insurance policy provides cover up to £3M  
(2018: £3M) and the cost for the year ended 31 March 2019 was £3K (2018: £3K). 
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14 Listed investments and investment properties – group and charity
     2019   2018

    Listed   Investment   Listed   Investment  
    investments  property  Total investments  property  Total
    £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000

Market value at 1 April 40,323 67,910 108,233  41,324  82,049  123,373 
Add: acquisitions at cost 23,001 (173) 22,828  7,509  1,215  8,724 
Less: disposals at carrying value (23,376) – (23,376) (7,990) (16,368) (24,358)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on revaluation 1,508 (127) 1,381  (520) 1,014  494 
Market value at 31 March 41,456 67,610 109,066  40,323  67,910  108,233 

Historic cost at 31 March 38,091 42,928 81,019   36,676  43,101  79,777 

Disposal proceeds during the year amounted to £23.9M (2018: £24.3M). 

Analysis of listed investments and investment properties – group and charity:
     2019   2018

    Held in Held  Held in Held 
   the UK overseas Total the UK overseas Total 
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
         
 

Investment properties – charity 67,610 – 67,610  67,910 – 67,910 
Investments listed in the stock exchange  
or valued by reference to such investments  26,067 11,832 37,899 39,010 – 39,010 
Investments in common deposit or  
common investment funds 1,045 – 1,045 968 – 968 
Cash held as part of investment portfolio 2,512 – 2,512 345 – 345 
Total investments – group and charity 97,234 11,832 109,066 108,233 – 108,233 

The trustees consider the following individual investment holdings at 31 March 2019 to be material:
     Listed Investment 
      investments  properties 
     £’000  £’000 

170 Tottenham Court Road, London     – 56,910
68 and 70 Huntley Street, London    – 4,100
69–75 Chenies Mews, London     – 6,600
Sarasin Alpha CIF for Endowments    19,096  –
Sarasin Responsible Corporate Bond    1,602  –
Sarasin Private Equity Fund IV    1,325  –

15 Programme-related loans – group and charity     
         Total
          £’000 

At 1 April 2018      70 
Repayments during year      (14)
At 31 March 2019      56 

The charity has made an interest-free loan to the 52 Club, the UCLH staff sports and social club, to enable  
it to develop fitness studios and upgrade its fixtures and fittings. This loan is repayable by September 2022.

12 Taxation
UCLH Charity is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on  
income derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various exemptions available to  
registered charities. Its wholly owned subsidiaries donate their taxable profits, if any, to the charity. 

13 Tangible assets
     Group

     Furniture,
   Assets   medical &  
  Land &  under  Leasehold  office  Computer   
   buildings  construction   improvements  equipment  equipment  Total 
  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Cost or valuation      
 Brought forward at 1 April 2018 9,090 15,668 3,003 2,488 571 30,820 

 Additions –  5,447 285 63 84 5,879 
 Balance at 31 March 2019 9,090 21,115 3,288 2,551 655 36,699 

Accumulated depreciation     
 Brought forward at 1 April 2018 – –  1,211 527 473 2,211 

 Charge for the year  –   –  186 354 58 598 
 Balance at 31 March 2019 – –  1,397  881  531  2,809 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 9,090  21,115  1,891 1,670 124 33,890 

Net book value at 31 March 2018 9,090 15,668 1,792 1,961 98 28,609

      Charity only

      Assets    
     Land &  under   
      buildings  construction   Total
     £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cost or valuation      
 Brought forward at 1 April 2018     9,090 15,668 24,758 

 Disposals     –  (15,668)  (15,668) 
 Balance at 31 March 2019     9,090 – 9,090 

Net book value at 31 March 2019     9,090 – 9,090 

Net book value at 31 March 2018     9,090  15,668  24,758

Land and buildings are held by the charity only. They were revalued as at 31 March 2019 by an  
independent valuer using a term and reversion technique which values the existing income stream  
at an initial yield with a reversion to estimated rental value once the current income stream has expired. 

Assets under construction consist of the Bedford Passage Development, which was transferred from  
the charity to Middlesex Annexe LLP on 1 April 2018. At 31 March 2019 the figure of £21.1M represented  
the purchase cost of the property and the associated planning and professional fees and building  
costs (2018: £15.7M). 
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16 Debtors
   Group    Charity

   2019 2018 2019 2018
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Amounts falling due within one year:      
Trade debtors  1,804  3,358  1,314  2,701 
Prepayments  371  351  137  149 
Accrued income  2,469  3,426  2,639  3,708 
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  576  – 
Other debtors  2,815  2,574  2,553  2,558 
Total debtors falling due within one year  7,459  9,709  7,219  9,116 

Amounts falling due after more than one year:      
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  24,105  2,500 
Total debtors falling due after more than one year  –  –  24,105  2,500 
Total debtors  7,459  9,709  31,324  11,616 

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
   Group    Charity

   2019 2018 2019 2018
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Trade creditors  1,205 212  755  416 
Other creditors  1,207 1,023  420  238 
Grant creditors  16,568 17,811  16,568  17,811 
Accruals  1,394 2,257  1,297  2,258 
Deferred income  352 164  352  164 
Hire purchase contracts  287 268  –  – 

   21,013 21,735  19,392  20,887 

18a Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
   Group    Charity

   2019 2018 2019 2018
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Hire purchase contracts  1,380 1,615 – – 
Bank loan  10,000 – 10,000 – 

   11,380 1,615 10,000 – 

The bank loan relates to an agreed 3 year facility with Handelsbanken repayable on 31 March 2021.  
The loan has an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.25% and is secured on the charity’s freehold property. 

Minimum lease payments on hire purchase contracts fall due between one and five years. 

18b Provisions for liabilities and charges – group only        
           £’000

 At 1 April 2017 and at 31 March 2018       75

All provisions for liabilities and charges relate to dilapidation provisions in the charity’s subsidiary  
company, QS Enterprises Ltd.
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19 Analysis of net movement in funds       
      Total funds     Transfers  Gains Total funds 
      brought  Total  Total  between  and   carried 
      forward at  income  expenditure funds  losses  forward at
      1 April 2018     31 March 2019 
      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Endowment funds:      
  Otto Beit Fund 160  –  –  –  12  172 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 385  –  –  –  30  415
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 217  –  –  –  17  234 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 228  –  –  –  16  244 
  David E Hughes Fund 1,775  –  (8) –  108  1,875 
  University College Hospital Fund 3,974  –  (14) –  184  4,144 
  Total endowment funds (group and charity) 6,739  –  (22) –  367  7,084 

Restricted funds:       
  Otto Beit Fund 95  8  (1) –  6  108 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 230  18  (3) –  15  260
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 959  37  (32) –  57  1,021 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 214  12  (7) –  11  230 
  CancerCare at UCLH Fund 95  –  (14)  –  –  81 
  Institute of Sport Fund 898  –  – –  –  898 
  Exilarch’s Foundation –  265  – –  –  265 
  Total restricted funds (group and charity) 2,491  340  (57) –  89  2,863 

Unrestricted funds:       
  General funds 82,886  5,822  (2,756) (3,071) 1,030  83,911 
  Designated discretionary funds 52,183  7,079  (8,832) 3,043  8  53,481 
  Other designated funds 13,014  1,569  (1,145) 28  396  13,862 
  Revaluation reserve 1,564  –  –  –  –  1,564 
  Total unrestricted funds, charity 149,647  14,470  (12,733)  –  1,434  152,818 
  Trading companies 62  4,702  (5,794)  –  –  (1,030) 
  Total unrestricted funds, group 149,709  19,172  (18,527) –  1,434  151,788 

Total funds 158,939  19,512  (18,606) –  1,890  161,735
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19 Analysis of net movement in funds (continued)       
      Total funds     Transfers  Gains Total funds 
      brought  Total  Total  between  and   carried 
      forward at  income  expenditure funds  losses  forward at
      1 April 2017     31 March 2018 
      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Endowment funds: 
  Otto Beit Fund 157  –  –  –  3  160 

   Dresden Assistance Fund 379  –  –  –  6  385
   UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 213  –  –  –  4  217 
   Gordon Taylor Fund 224  –  –  –  4  228 
   David E Hughes Fund 1,755  –  (10) –  30  1,775 
   University College Hospital Fund 3,975  –  (23) –  22  3,974 
   Total endowment funds (group and charity) 6,703  –  (33) –  69  6,739 

Restricted funds:       
  Otto Beit Fund 88  8  (2) –  1  95 

   Dresden Assistance Fund 210  20  (4) –  4  230
   UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 962  36  (56) –  17  959 
   Gordon Taylor Fund 211  13  (13) –  3  214 
   CancerCare at UCLH Fund 95  –  –  –  –  95 
   Institute of Sport Fund 945  –  (47) –  –  898 
   Total restricted funds (group and charity) 2,511  77  (122) –  25  2,491 

Unrestricted funds:       
  General funds 84,680  3,220  (4,980) (367) 333  82,886 

   Designated discretionary funds 49,862  8,758  (6,765) 327  1  52,183 
   Other designated funds 12,767  4,906  (4,756) 40  57  13,014 
   Revaluation reserve –  –  –  –  1,564  1,564 
   Total unrestricted funds, charity 147,309  16,884  (16,501)  –  1,955  149,647 
   Trading companies 57  4,256  (4,251)  –  –  62
   Total unrestricted funds, group 147,366  21,140  (20,752) _  1,955  149,709 

Total funds 156,580  21,217  (20,907) –  2,049  158,939

 Fund descriptions

Otto Beit Fund – to be applied for the benefit of patients suffering from arthritis and rheumatoid conditions.

Dresden Assistance Fund – to be applied for the benefit of inpatients of University College Hospital who are 
in need.

UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund – for the relief of patients who have been treated at any hospital of UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust.

Gordon Taylor Fund – to be applied for the benefit of incapacitated nurses of the former Middlesex Hospital 
or of University College Hospital.

David E Hughes Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of University College Hospital.

University College Hospital Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of UCH.

CancerCare at UCLH Fund – for any charitable purposes of UCLH NHS Foundation Trust relating to cancer 
research and the treatment, benefit and comfort of cancer patients.

Institute of Sport Fund – for the purpose of creating an Institute of Sport Exercise and Health, a facility for 
the treatment of athletes and people engaged in sports. 

Exilarch’s Foundation Fund – to be applied for the Sir Naim Dangoor Centre for Cellular Immunotherapy.
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19 Analysis of net movement in funds (continued)     
  

  Designated discretionary funds are funds operated on behalf of specific wards or consultants, where   
decisions over spending are delegated to ward or consultant level, under the oversight of officers of the charity. 

Other designated funds are funds which the trustees of the charity have chosen to designate for specific 
purposes. They include a fund held on behalf of the Royal London Hospital for Integrated Medicine, funds 
held for the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery as a result of the annual profit donated by 
QS Enterprises Ltd, various prize funds and funds created as a result of legacies given to the charity for 
specific purposes. 

The revaluation reserve relates to gains and losses on the revaluation of the charity’s tangible fixed assets.

 

20 Reconciliation of accumulated unrealised gains
         2019 2018
         £’000  £’000 

Unrealised gains included as part of net assets:     
On listed investments     3,365 3,647 
On investment properties     24,682 24,809 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March     28,047 28,456 

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains:       
Unrealised gains at 1 April      28,456 41,870 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year     (1,790) (13,908)
Add: unrealised gains in year     1,381 494 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March      28,047 28,456

21 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating from operating activities
         2019 2018
         £’000  £’000 

Net income     2,796 2,359 
Depreciation charges (note 13)     598 684 
(Gains)/losses on revaluation of tangible fixed assets     – (1,564) 
(Gains) on investments     (1,890) (485)
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     (4,855) (4,652)
Decrease in stocks     – 4 
Decrease/(increase) in debtors     2,250 (1,793) 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and provisions     (722) 2,978 
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities     (1,823) (2,469)
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22 Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases
      Land and buildings   Other   

      2019 2018 2019 2018
      £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

As at 31 March the group had total commitments under       
Non-cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   344  341  51  117 

  within two to five years inclusive   1,046  1,199  –  53 
  over five years   1,229  1,383  –  – 
      2,619  2,923  51  170 

As at 31 March the charity had total commitments under       
Non–cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   152  152  –  – 

  within two to five years inclusive   512  609  –  – 
  over five years   –  56  –  – 
      664  817  –  –

23 Other contractual commitments
As at 31 March 2019, the group had contractual commitments of £1.5m for refurbishment costs  
in relation to tangible fixed assets contracted for but not accrued in the accounts at the year end  
(2018: £237K relating to investment properties). 

24 Material legacies 
Legacies are accounted for as income either upon receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is 
probable and the amount can be determined with reasonable accuracy. As at 31 March 2019 the 
charity had been notified of one legacy (2018: two legacies) which were not included in income 
since the amount due to be received was not known.

25 Related party transactions
Dr Rima Makarem is a trustee of UCLH Charity and is also a council member of St George’s 
University. During the year there were transactions totalling £3,664 (2018: £nil) with St George’s 
University. Dr Makarem is also a non-executive director of Hillingdon Hospital and during the 
year there were transactions totalling £275 (2018: £nil) with Hillingdon Hospital. None of the 
other trustees or members of the key management staff or parties related to them undertook any 
material transactions with UCLH Charity.

The Essex Wynter Charity is a related party for UCLH Charity as the trustees of UCLH Charity 
appoint the trustees of the Essex Wynter Charity. The Essex Wynter Charity was charged a sum 
of £8K for the provision of accounting and administration services (2018: £8K). Its outstanding 
balance at the year end was £16K (2018: £16K).

The accounts do not include disclosure of transactions between the charity and its wholly owned 
trading subsidiaries due to the exemptions available under section 33 of FRS 102.
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Our trustees

The trustees determine the charity’s strategic 
aims and assess the suitability of projects for 
the charity. Some have links within the NHS, 
while others have expertise in a wide range of 
fields including law and investments. 

Mr James Thorne, Chairman, is 
a former partner and is now a 
consultant at the law firm Farrer 
& Co which he joined in 1981. 
Since retiring as a partner he has 
been involved with several arts, 
education and health charities.  
He is now the chairman of a 
school and trustee of a grant-
making charity, both in Kent.

Lord Hemphill is a director 
of Waverton Investment 
Management Limited. He 
has worked in investment 
management firms for over  
35 years and chairs the investment 
sub-committee. He serves as a 
trustee of charitable and family 
trusts and was formerly chairman 
of the board of governors at  
St. Mary’s School Ascot.

Mr Nigel Keen is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, and the Institute of 
Engineering and Technology.  
He is the chairman of various health 
and technology organisations 
which include Syncona 
Investment Management Limited, 
Oxford University Innovation, 
Oxford Academic Health Science 
Network, Deltex Medical plc and 
MedAccess Guarantee Limited.

Dr Rima Makarem is holding 
a portfolio of non-executive 
positions at a number of 
organisations including UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust, the House 
of Commons Commission and 
the National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence. She is the 
chairman of the National Travel 
Health Network and Centre.

  UCLH Charity is contributing 
£28 million towards the cost 
of a new surgery and cancer 
centre at UCLH. 

  This new 11-storey hospital is 
currently under construction and  
will welcome its first patients in 
2020. The new facility will offer  
new and improved services to 
patients, including:

•  A new proton beam therapy (PBT) 
service. This advanced form of 
radiotherapy is used to treat complex 
cancer in children and adults.  
UCLH will be one of only two NHS 
PBT centres in the UK. 

•  Europe’s largest centre for the 
treatment of blood disorders.  
The facility will be home to 80 
inpatient beds, a dedicated intensive 
care unit and a centre for cellular 
immunotherapy. 

•  A new surgery centre. Extending 
UCLH’s surgical capacity, there will 
be eight state-of-the-art theatres and 
a surgical ward in the new building.

  Services that will be located in the 
centre have been the subject of  
two BBC documentaries in 2019.

-  “War in the Blood” featured 
scientists at UCL and clinicians 
at UCLH working together on 
groundbreaking ‘first in-human’ 
research that ‘re-programmes’ the 
immune system to recognise and  
kill cancer cells.

-  BBC’s Horizon programme, “The 250 
Million Pound Cancer Cure” followed 
the construction of the two NHS PBT 
centres at UCLH and The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust in Manchester.

New cancer and 
surgery centre

Prof Donald Peebles is a Professor 
of Maternal Fetal Medicine in the 
UCL Institute for Women’s Health, 
Divisional Clinical Director for 
Women’s Health at UCLH as well 
as Clinical Director of the London 
Maternity Network. He has a 
number of research interests 
that focus on improving the 
outcomes for women and their 
babies following complicated 
pregnancies.

Prof Mervyn Singer is a Professor 
of Intensive Care Medicine at  
UCL and a National Institute 
Health Research Senior 
Investigator. His research focuses 
on sepsis, multi-organ failure, 
innovative monitors, diagnostics 
and drugs. He co-chaired the 
Sepsis Redefinitions International 
Task Force whose research article 
and recommendations were 
extensively discussed worldwide. 

Mrs Nikki Williams-Ellis MBE, 
chairs the property sub-
committee. She has extensive 
experience in the charitable 
sector, in particular working with 
children and adults with learning 
difficulties. She has over 35 years 
of expertise in the commercial 
and residential property sectors 
and founded a charity that built, 
and runs, the first international 
cricket stadium in Rwanda.

BACK COVER

Delivery of the 90 tonne 
cyclotron which is used 
to deliver proton beam 
therapy, June 2018 
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Derek D’Souza, Head of 
Radiotherapy Physics with the 
90 tonne cyclotron used to 
deliver proton beam therapy 
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